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INTRODUCTION 

 

More than thirty years since issuing the Moncrief Lease, the U.S. Department of the 

Interior (“Interior”) claims that it has the authority to administratively and unilaterally cancel this 

federal oil and gas lease duly issued and executed in 1982 pursuant to the Mineral Leasing Act 

by deciding in 2017 that it made a legal error decades ago (the “Cancellation”). Further, Interior 

maintains that it may do so without providing the lessee prior written notice stating the reasons 

for such cancellation and an opportunity to contest the action before it is taken. Fed. Defs.’ 

Cross-Mot. Summ. J. and Opp. Plf.’s Mot. Summ. J. (“Fed. Defs.’ Br.”) (ECF No. 21). Although 

they did not challenge Interior’s leasing decision at the time, and would be time-barred from 

doing so today, 30 U.S.C. § 226-2 (requiring that contests to oil and gas leasing decisions be 

filed within 90 days), Intervenor-Defendants Pikuni Traditionalist Association, Blackfeet 

Headwaters Alliance, Glacier-Two Medicine Alliance, Montana Wilderness Association, 

National Parks Conservation Association, and The Wilderness Society (collectively, “PTA”), 

now support cancellation, Mem. Pts. Auth. of Pikuni Traditionalist Ass’n, et al. Supp. Mot. 

Summ. J. and Opp. Plf.’s Mot. Summ. J. (“PTA Br.”) (ECF No. 24). The Government’s and 

PTA’s cross-motions make plain that, rather than a case about a lease “improperly issued,” this 

case is about a lease that was not politically convenient for the prior Administration.  

Strikingly, the Government makes no attempt to argue that the Moncrief Lease was, in 

fact, “improperly issued.” If that was the real reason for the Cancellation the Government and 

PTA would not have wasted innumerable pages informing the Court about alleged post-leasing 

developments in the Badger-Two Medicine area that:  (1) relate to entirely distinct administrative 

actions and (2) occur only after Interior issued the Moncrief Lease. Rather, this case is about an 

agency divining a pretext to cancel a lease that, at the time, was apparently not controversial 
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enough for anyone to challenge, but that the agency much later found inadvisable. Regardless, 

whether based on pre-lease or post-lease reasons, the Cancellation was untimely, unlawful, 

arbitrary and capricious, and violated Moncrief’s due process rights. 

ARGUMENT 
 

I. NEITHER THE GOVERNMENT NOR PTA HAS DEMONSTRATED THAT 

INTERIOR HAS THE AUTHORITY TO ADMINISTRATIVELY CANCEL 

THE MONCRIEF LEASE, NOR COULD THEY. 

Interior has no statutory, regulatory, or intrinsic power to administratively cancel the 

Moncrief Lease on the basis of its having been issued in alleged violation of the National 

Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”) or the National Historic Preservation Act (“NHPA”). 

Neither the Government nor PTA has shown otherwise. 

A. The Mineral Leasing Act Does Not Allow Administrative Cancellation in 

These Circumstances. 

The Government interprets Moncrief’s motion for summary judgment as arguing broadly 

that “the Secretary lacks administrative cancellation authority.” Fed. Defs.’ Br. 19. This is not so. 

In fact, Moncrief does not argue that this Court need make any ruling so sweeping. Moncrief 

acknowledges that Congress expressly gave Interior the authority to cancel administratively in 

certain limited circumstances, and to cancel through judicial process in others. Moncrief Br. 2–3. 

We also agree with the Government that the statutory processes Congress gave Interior to cancel 

leases do not apply here. Fed. Defs.’ Br. 15. We further agree that nothing in the Mineral Leasing 

Act directly discusses the action the agency took here. Id. That is precisely the point. What 

Congress did not authorize is the administrative cancellation of a lease where Interior belatedly 

decides that it committed a substantive error of law (as opposed to an administrative or 

ministerial infraction), much less when such a decision is made in the course of post-lease events 
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not even concerning the particular parcel of land underlying the lease. Under any reasonable 

reading of the Mineral Leasing Act and Interior’s regulations, that is a bridge too far.  

By continuing to rely on general statutory statements, Interior runs afoul of the principle 

that an agency “cannot rely on its general authority to make rules necessary to carry out its 

functions when a specific statutory directive defines the relevant functions of [the agency] in a 

particular area.” Am. Petroleum Inst. v. EPA, 52 F.3d 1113, 1119 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (citation 

omitted). Here, the “broad, sweeping” language Interior relies on, Fed. Defs.’ Br. 14, has been 

superseded by more specific, limited language with regard to cancellation. See Nat’l Mining 

Ass’n v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, 105 F.3d 691, 694 (D.C. Cir. 1997) (rejecting use of general 

rulemaking provisions of enabling legislation to extend regulatory authority beyond specific 

delegation elsewhere). This is therefore not a case like Consumer Electronics Association v. FCC 

where the only statutory language the court interpreted was broad and sweeping. 347 F.3d 291, 

298 (D.C. Cir. 2003). If through 43 U.S.C. § 2, as enacted in 1812 and last amended in 1875, 

Congress truly intended to give Interior free reign over all private property interests in federal 

land, see Fed. Defs.’ Br. 3, all subsequent text and legislation such as the Mineral Leasing Act 

itself are mere surplusage.  

Because Congress spoke directly to Interior’s administrative cancellation authority after 

enacting a general grant of authority, and because that statutory text does not authorize Interior’s 

interpretation here, Interior is foreclosed from claiming additional authority. Ry. Labor Execs.’ 

Ass’n v. Nat’l Mediation Bd., 29 F.3d 655, 671 (D.C. Cir. 1994), amended by 38 F.3d 1224 

(1994) (ruling that a statute that “does not expressly negate the existence of a claimed 

administrative power” does not authorize an agency to read into the statute additional authority 

(emphasis in original)); see also Moncrief Br. 20–24. Interior’s reading of the Mineral Leasing 
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Act identifies no limiting principle, allowing Interior to “enjoy virtually limitless hegemony.” Id. 

However, Congress did place limits on the otherwise broad authority it granted with respect to 

leasing federal land, and Interior failed to respect those limits here. See FDA v. Brown & 

Williamson Tobacco Co., 529 U.S. 120, 143 (2000) (“[T]he implications of a statute may be 

altered by the implications of a later statute. . . . This is particularly so where the scope of the 

earlier statute is broad but the subsequent statutes more specifically address the topic at hand.” 

(internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).
1
 

B. The Case Law the Government and PTA Cite Cannot Confer Authority 

Absent from Statute and Regulation.  

Neither the Government nor PTA has cited a single example of a federal court or the 

Interior Board of Land Appeals (“IBLA”)
2
 having upheld the cancellation of an oil and gas lease 

on the basis of an alleged NEPA or NHPA violation. The Government’s claims of a longstanding 

agency practice, then, Fed. Defs.’ Br. 4, 19, lack credence. Further, the Government’s assertion 

that Interior’s “existing practice” with respect to “improperly issued” leases is to “tak[e] into 

account the specific circumstances and not assum[e] cancellation is appropriate simply because 

                                                   
1
 Interior’s interpretation of its authority here also undermines congressional policy regarding the 

responsible development of oil and gas on federal land. See Br. Amici Curiae U.S. Chamber of 

Commerce & Mont. Petrol. Ass’n Supp. Plf.’s Mot. Summ. J. 5–7, Solenex LLC v. Jewell, et al., 

No. 13-993 (ECF No. 91-1) (Sept. 19, 2016). “The owner of a mining claim owns property, and 

is not a mere social guest of the Department of the Interior to be shooed out the door when the 

Department chooses.” United States v. Shumway, 199 F.3d 1093, 1103, 1108 (9th Cir. 1999) 

(ruling that “[f]ailure to file an approved operating plan cannot, ipso facto, cause a forfeiture of a 

bona fide claim owner’s equitable title and possessory right”). This is no less true in the case of 

an oil and gas lease. Interior’s authority is simply not as broad as it claims. 

2
 The IBLA exercises the delegated authority of the Secretary in rendering decisions. See 43 

C.F.R. § 4.1. 
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of a legal defect,” Fed. Defs.’ Br. 4, finds no support in the rule preamble the Government cites.
3
 

Rather, all that rule says is: 

§ 3108.3(b) has been modified by the final rulemaking in response to a comment 

that leases improperly issued shall be subject to cancellation rather than cancelled, 

as required by the language of the proposed rulemaking. This modification 

reflects the Department of the Interior's existing practice in considering specific 

situations. 

48 Fed. Reg. 33,648, 33,655 (July 22, 1983). Interior cited nothing supporting the assertion of an 

“existing practice” regarding cancellation, much less cancellation in the event of alleged legal 

defects. The Government’s reliance on such an explanation here is simply a post hoc 

interpretation that serves Interior’s purposes now, and in any case still cannot expand upon the 

statutory authority Congress intended Interior to have.  

If the practice of Interior confessing legal error and cancelling already-issued leases were 

truly longstanding, then the Government and PTA would not have to rely on cases of mere 

administrative and ministerial errors, such as (2) mistakenly leasing unavailable land, D.M. 

Yates, 74 IBLA 159, 161 (1983) (leased land part of National Wildlife Refuge); Tex. Oil & Gas 

Corp. v. Andrus, 498 F. Supp. 668, 675 (D.D.C. 1980) (lands not subject to public land laws), 

rev’d on other grounds sub nom. Tex. Oil & Gas Corp. v. Watt, 683 F.2d 427 (1982), (2) leasing 

land already issued to someone else, Griffin & Griffin Expl., LLC v. United States, 116 Fed. Cl. 

163, 167 (Fed. Cl. 2014); see also Estate of Glenn F. Coy Res. Serv. Co., 52 IBLA 182, 187 

                                                   
3
 If the Court is persuaded that Interior has the authority to administratively cancel a lease in the 

circumstances here, Interior’s assertion of how it exerts its authority is troubling. If Interior 

identifies a lease that could be subject to cancellation “simply because of a legal defect,” but 

declines to rectify the legal defect, Interior leaves the lessee vulnerable to claims regarding the 

illegality, potentially without the lessee’s knowledge. Moreover, although Interior claims to have 

the discretion whether to cancel or not, and that case law supports this interpretation, other case 

law also suggests that Interior must cancel a lease after identifying an administrative defect. 

McKay v. Wahlenmaier, 226 F.2d 35, 43 (D.C. Cir. 1955) (finding the Secretary “bound . . . to 

treat alike all violators of his regulation,” and rejecting claim that Secretary could decide whether 

or not to cancel lease of unqualified lessee). 
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(1981) (undisclosed interest holder resulted in improper issuance); or (3) where Interior skipped 

a required step prior to leasing, Grynberg v. Kempthorne, No. 06-cv-01878-WYD-MJW, 2008 

WL 2445564, at *4 (D. Colo. June 16, 2008) (failure to obtain Forest Service consent rendered 

land unavailable).
4
 For this reason, Entergy Corp. v. Riverkeeper Inc. is of no use here. While a 

“current practice” may be reasonable based upon decades of continuous use, 556 U.S. 208, 224 

(2009), here we do not have anything more than an agency, now in litigation, asserting this is 

how it has interpreted its authority forever – without citing any specific supporting examples.  

This precedent reflecting cancellation authority for pre-lease ministerial errors directly 

follows from the limited holding of Boesche v. Udall, which does not support cancellation of the 

Moncrief Lease. The Government and PTA fail to acknowledge, much less grapple with, the 

Court’s statement that “[w]e hold only that the Secretary has the power to correct administrative 

errors of the sort involved here by cancellation of leases in proceedings timely instituted by 

competing applicants for the same land.” 373 U.S. 472, 485 (1963) (emphasis added); see also 

Moncrief Br. 25–26. The Moncrief Lease suffers no “administrative error.” Interior instituted no 

“proceeding,” and what Interior did here was by no means “timely.” Further, notably absent here 

is any “competing[] applicant for the same land.”
5
  

                                                   
4
 We take no position as to whether the cancellations in those cases were or were not improper. 

The fact remains they are inapposite. Hannifin v. Morton, a case concerning the authority to 

impose a fee, is even less on point. 444 F.2d 200, 202 (10th Cir. 1971) (citing Boesche for the 

proposition that “it is generally recognized that the Secretary has broad authority quite apart from 

that granted to him in the Sulphur Production Act”). 

5
 Moreover, whereas the lease cancellation in Boesche was the only correction that could occur 

where a parcel was already leased, here “correcting” the error would be remedying the NEPA 

and NHPA violations, not cancelling the lease. After all, both NEPA and NHPA are procedural 

statutes that do not dictate the resulting agency decision. Moncrief Br. 4–5. If it has been 

Interior’s practice to misapply the Supreme Court’s language in Boesche, this case provides the 

Court with a ready vehicle for correcting Interior’s error.  
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Subsequent case law and IBLA decisions confirm that Boesche only allows cancellation 

on the basis of pre-lease errors when those errors are administrative. Winkler v. Andrus, 614 F.2d 

707, 711 (10th Cir. 1980) (“The Secretary has broad authority to cancel oil and gas leases . . . for 

administrative errors committed before the lease was issued.”); Fortune Oil Co., 69 IBLA 13, 15 

(1982) (characterizing Boesche as recognizing “the authority to cancel any lease issued contrary 

to law because of the inadvertence of his subordinates” (emphasis added)). Neither the 

Government nor PTA has identified anything “inadvertent” about the completion of the Leasing 

EA and the issuance of the Moncrief Lease.  

Clayton W. Williams, Jr. Exxon Corp., an IBLA decision relied upon by PTA (but not the 

Government in this context), does not go as far as PTA hopes. PTA argues that the IBLA 

“recognized that this lease cancellation authority would apply in the case of a lease issued in 

violation of” NEPA, PTA Br. 15, and calls that statement a “pronouncement,” but stops short of 

characterizing the statement a “ruling,” because IBLA made no such ruling (which, in any case, 

would not bind this Court). There, the record did not suffice to demonstrate whether or not the 

agencies violated NEPA, and therefore the IBLA would not uphold cancellation for that reason. 

103 IBLA 192, 208–09 (1988). The Regional Forester told BLM that the Forest Service had no 

objection to lease issuance so long as the lease included certain stipulations, and that the Forest 

Service did not believe additional NEPA analysis to be necessary. Id. at 195–96. Three days after 

the lease became effective, the Regional Forester informed BLM that the land was not actually 

subject to leasing, it had “inadvertently overlooked” the lease application, and that the lease had 

been issued “through an oversight.” Id. at 198–99. Again characterizing Boesche as ruling that 

Interior “has the authority to cancel any lease . . . because of the inadvertence of his 

subordinates,” id. at 202, IBLA proceeded to assume, without deciding, that the asserted 
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inadvertence with respect to NEPA compliance in that case could render a lease “voidable,” 

though not “void.” Id. at 210. However, the IBLA could not decide that point, because the record 

was insufficient.
6
 The facts of Clayton are materially different from those here. Here Interior 

cites no clerical mistake – quickly identified – causing it to overlook a purported requirement or 

piece of information. There was nothing “inadvertent” about the issuance of the Moncrief Lease, 

or the NEPA process that preceded it. Further, other IBLA decisions indicate that a 

reconsideration of environmental conditions is not grounds for administrative cancellation. D.M. 

Yates, 74 IBLA at 162 n.3.
7
  

Finally, PTA’s argument that an asserted public interest component of the Moncrief 

Lease cancellation confers more authority upon Interior is misplaced. Authority derives from 

Congress, and Congress can tell an agency when the public interest should play a factor. 

Congress did not do so here. PTA’s reliance on Seaton v. Texas Co. is misplaced. In Seaton the 

court explained that when an agency is making a discretionary decision the public interest may 

weigh in favor of upholding the decision, not that somehow consideration of the public interest 

expands congressional authorization. 256 F.2d 718, 722 (D.C. Cir. 1958). In fact, the court in 

                                                   
6
 “It is impossible for this Board to determine from the record presently before us whether or not 

the Forest Service and BLM are correct in their assertion that prior Forest Service environmental 

studies were inadequate. Inasmuch as the decision below involved cancellation of an issued 

lease, we would have expected that BLM and the Forest Service would have, at a minimum, 

attempted to document exactly what the deficiencies were in the original Forest Service analyses, 

since cancellation of this lease was, to a large extent, premised on the existence of such 

deficiencies. Rather than providing such documentation, however, both the Forest Service and 

BLM have submitted essentially conclusory statements.” Clayton, 103 IBLA at 208–09. 

7
 To the extent this Court finds Clayton persuasive, it should similarly decline to rule on the 

validity of the lease cancellation here because, as in Clayton, Interior has not included in the 

administrative record here the documentation, i.e., the administrative record from the Leasing 

EA and the Moncrief Lease, that would establish whether or not a NEPA or NHPA violation had 

occurred. To the extent the court finds the lease “voidable,” it is certainly not voidable without 

notice and a hearing, as explained infra, and nothing in Clayton would support such a reading.  
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Seaton expressly reminded that the agency is still “bound by the statute.” Id. In sum, this Court 

should reject Interior’s attempt to extend its authority beyond what Congress allows.  

II. INTERIOR’S CANCELLATION OF THE MONCRIEF LEASE WAS 

ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS. 

 

If the Court reaches the merits of Interior’s cancellation here, it need not decide the 

question whether the Moncrief Lease was “improperly issued” due to a supposed NEPA or 

NHPA violation. Rather, the Court’s charge is to decide whether, on the record Interior provided, 

it was arbitrary and capricious for the agency to decide the lease was improperly issued. Interior 

has not, and cannot, justify its decision here on the record.  

Interior has claimed the authority to cancel the Moncrief Lease on the basis of pre-lease 

violations. Fed. Defs.’ Br. 14. The Government defends that authority in its brief, and provides a 

discussion of the standard of review of the substance of an agency action, id. 12–13, but does not 

actually attempt to justify Interior’s decision that cancellation was warranted due to an alleged 

pre-lease error. The Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”) does not allow courts to “defer to a 

void.” Or. Nat. Desert Ass’n v. BLM, 625 F.3d 1092, 1121 (9th Cir. 2010). Instead, although 

deferential, the APA still requires a court to undertake a “substantial inquiry,” reviewing the 

agency’s explanation of its decision based on a full record. Citizens to Preserve Overton Park, 

Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 415 (1971). The Court should not presume that an agency action is 

not arbitrary and capricious simply because the Government declines to defend it on the merits.  

In any event, Moncrief amply demonstrated that Interior wrongfully cancelled its lease. 

Moncrief Br. 33–44. Interior provided no response. PTA’s arguments should be given little to no 

weight, given that they would not be able to challenge the leasing decision today. This Court 

should therefore rule that Interior’s cancellation decision was arbitrary and capricious. 
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A. Interior Improperly Ignored Relevant Record and Non-Record Materials. 

In arguing that Interior’s cancellation of the Moncrief Lease was arbitrary and capricious, 

Moncrief does not seek to denigrate any sincerely held belief of the Blackfeet Tribe, as explained 

in the opening brief. Moncrief Br. 37. Moncrief rejects the notion that it characterized the 

Blackfeet Tribe’s beliefs as “disingenuous and pretextual,” PTA Br. 1, or that it sought to 

“impeach Blackfeet credibility,” PTA Br. 5. Nor will Moncrief countenance PTA’s transparent 

attempt to demonize Moncrief and its valid existing right. Rulings on what beliefs the Blackfeet 

Tribe held and when they held them are not essential for Moncrief to prevail. What is pretextual 

is the Government’s attempt to justify a lease cancellation decision based upon alleged pre-lease 

illegality when the record it bases its cancellation decision on almost entirely post-dates the 

lease. Moncrief argued, and still maintains, that the record is full of inconsistent information, and 

that the Government had a duty to address the entire record
8
 and reconcile the conflicting points 

of view therein, instead of adopting one group’s current cause as its own. Moncrief Br. 35–37.  

Nevertheless, to briefly respond to a few documents PTA raises. First, the 1973 Blackfeet 

Tribal Business Council statement referenced by PTA, PTA Br. 2, specifically references the 

potential sacred parts of the “Blackfeet Indian Reservation,” of which the Badger-Two Medicine 

area is not a part.
9
 Although the Badger-Two Medicine area may fall within the land described 

subsequently, that broad statement cannot be taken to unequivocally apply to the Moncrief Lease 

portion of the Badger-Two Medicine area. Additionally, despite this statement, PTA concedes 

                                                   
8
 PTA asserts that Moncrief should have filed a motion to supplement the record. PTA Br. 9. But 

supplementation of the record is not what Moncrief sought to do, because we do not contend that 

these non-record materials were before the agency but not reviewed by the agency. Rather, we 

submitted documents outside of the record to demonstrate: (a) that BLM ignored important 

information when making its decision; and (b) that Moncrief should have had an opportunity to 

bring these and other materials before the agency in advance of cancellation. Moncrief Br. 6 n.5, 

37. 

9
 We note, however, that the gas pipeline PTA attempts to distinguish is also within that area.  
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that the Tribe has allowed drilling on reservation land near East Glacier Park, Montana, which is 

quite near, if not within, the area claimed as sacred. PTA Br. 4. Second, the 1993 resolution post-

dates the Moncrief Lease, PTA Br. 2, and appears to have been prepared to specifically respond 

to an application for permit to drill elsewhere in the area. Again, we do not contend that any of 

these documents are or are not legitimate; rather, we maintain that, in light of other documents 

indicating contrary views, Interior had a duty to acknowledge the existence of the inconsistency 

and explain how it justified its conclusion. In sum, the documents in the record and otherwise 

readily available to Interior merit far more consideration than Interior gave them, and Interior’s 

failure in this regard renders cancellation of the Moncrief Lease arbitrary and capricious. 

B. The Record Does Not Support the Government’s Conclusion That the 

Moncrief Lease Was Issued in Violation of NEPA and the NHPA. 

By solely asserting the authority to cancel the Moncrief Lease on the basis of an alleged 

pre-lease error, Interior implicitly concedes that it has no authority to cancel the Moncrief Lease 

due to the subsequent creation of a Traditional Cultural District covering the lease area or 

withdrawal of the land from future leasing. The IBLA has also foreclosed BLM from using 

subsequent environmental analyses as grounds to cancel a validly issued lease. D.M. Yates, 74 

IBLA at 162 n.3 (“The authority of the Secretary to cancel leases erroneously issued in violation 

of the MLA and regulations promulgated thereunder is properly distinguished from the situation 

where, after lease issuance, an environmental assessment was performed which would support an 

exercise of discretion to reject a lease offer. Such a finding after lease issuance will not support 

lease cancellation.” (emphasis added) (citing Carl J. Taffera, 71 IBLA 72 (1983) (rejecting 

BLM attempt to use post-lease environmental assessment to cancel valid lease)). Thus, to 

achieve its desired end, Interior had to identify some alleged deficiency in the leasing process 

that would be its hook for cancellation, and identified purported errors with the Leasing EA 
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authorizing the issuance of leases such as Moncrief’s and with NHPA consultation. BLM-

M000675–78. See generally Alexander L. Merritt, Note, Confession of Error by Administrative 

Agencies, 67 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 1197, 1198–99 (2010) (cautioning that agency confession of 

error can “serve illegitimate purposes, such as when an agency uses a confession of error as a 

strategic device to achieve a political goal”). To support its argument, Interior included in the 

record the document it asserts is deficient – the Leasing EA – but none of the administrative 

record for that action vital to ascertain whether or not it complied with NEPA. Moncrief Br. 40.  

Similarly absent from the record is any administrative record underlying the decision to 

issue the Moncrief Lease. Neither the Government nor PTA identified any such record. This 

Court, then, is being asked to defer to:  (1) the short Cancellation; and (2) PTA’s arguments 

about the Cancellation, instead of Interior’s justification for its NEPA and NHPA conclusions on 

the basis of a full administrative record. Interior cites the Leasing EA four times in its 

Cancellation, BLM-M000676 nn. 27, 29, 30, and does not once cite anything that could be 

interpreted as a document supporting issuance of the Moncrief Lease. Instead, Interior describes 

an assessment of NHPA compliance in the course of considering an application for permit to 

drill on land outside the Moncrief Lease. BLM-M000678–79. If nothing else, it was arbitrary and 

capricious for Interior to have decided that the Moncrief Lease must be cancelled without 

looking at the record supporting that leasing decision.  

The documents PTA and the Government do cite do not aid their arguments. First, PTA 

misreads the Moncrief Lease with respect to surface disturbance, which it contends is the 

“critical point” with regard to NEPA compliance. PTA Br. 31. PTA’s argument that the lease 

does not allow for the prohibition of surface disturbance by citing to two pages of the lease is 

belied by the text of the very next page, which allows BLM to impose conditions related to 
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“[l]ocation of drilling or other exploratory or developmental operations or the manner in which 

they are to be conducted” and makes any surface disturbance, “[n]otwithstanding any provision 

of this lease to the contrary[,] . . . subject . . . to prior approval . . . by the Area Oil and Gas 

Supervisor in consultation with appropriate surface management agency.” BLM-M000765. 

Surface disturbance was thus never a foregone conclusion.  

PTA also errs in contending that the no-action alternative was deficient because the 

Leasing EA concluded that the alternative “would inflict equal or even more severe long-term 

impacts” than other alternatives. PTA Br. 31. PTA implies that “no action” must be the 

equivalent of “no impact,” which is false. PTA’s dissatisfaction with the Leasing EA’s 

conclusion about the no-action alternative is not a reason to conclude that the no-action 

alternative was deficient.  

With regard to NHPA compliance, PTA relies solely upon unsupported assertions in the 

Cancellation to argue that BLM did not consult when it should have. PTA Br. 34 (citing BLM-

M000678). Presumably, had the Government identified support in the voluminous post-lease 

record for the assertions in the Cancellation, it would at least have identified them in the 

background section of its brief, but it did not. Fed. Defs.’ Br. 7–12.  

Interior provided no administrative record for the Leasing EA. Interior provided no 

administrative record for the Moncrief Lease. All Interior provided is a record compiled to 

support:  (1) Interior’s claims that it did not unreasonably delay in acting on Solenex’s 

application for a permit to drill; (2) Interior’s subsequent cancellation of the Solenex lease; and 

(3) the Moncrief Lease Cancellation. The record provides no new analysis with regard to the 

Moncrief Lease, because the Moncrief Lease was not the subject of an application for permit to 

drill, or any other activity, when Interior developed its belated rationale to cancel it.  
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C. PTA Misinterprets, and Interior Arbitrarily and Capriciously Relied upon, 

Congress’s Withdrawal of the Badger-Two Medicine Area.   

Interior misinterprets and misapplies the 2006 legislation withdrawing the area from 

future leasing, forgetting that it protects valid existing rights; therefore, Interior had no authority 

to summarily decide that there is no set of circumstances under which Moncrief could exercise 

those rights. Interior acknowledges that the withdrawal was subject to valid existing rights, Fed. 

Defs.’ Br. 2, but does not reconcile the meaning of that reservation with its wrongheaded 

justification here. Valid existing rights such as the Moncrief Lease mean something, even if a 

request to assert those rights is ultimately subject to conditions. See Nat’l Parks Conserv. Ass’n 

v. U.S. Forest Serv., 177 F. Supp. 3d 1, 15 n.5 (D.D.C. 2016) (upholding Forest Service decision 

to allow gravel mining in NHPA-designated historic district pursuant to valid existing mineral 

right). PTA’s attempt to distinguish NPCA by highlighting the original source of the valid 

existing right in question is unavailing. PTA Br. 38 n.15. The point is not the extent of Interior’s 

discretion regarding mineral development, but rather that a valid existing right in the context of 

an oil and gas lease conveys at the very least a right to seek to develop minerals on the leasehold, 

subject to reasonable regulation by Interior. 

PTA also misreads the Congressional Record when arguing that Senator Baucus stated 

that leases in the area could be cancelled “for any other reason.” PTA Br. 37. The actual text 

reads as follows: “[t]his withdrawal provision would also apply to a lease canceled for any other 

reason, including as the result of a private buy-out.” 151 Cong. Rec. S7389, S7390 (daily ed. 

June 24, 2005) (statement of Sen. Baucus). Senator Baucus did not opine upon what the law was 

with regard to cancellation, or indicate that by virtue of this legislation Interior could abrogate a 

valid existing right. Even if he did, and with all due respect, a lone member of Congress such as 

Senator Baucus does not interpret Interior’s authority; this Court does. We agree that Congress 
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did not determine what was a valid existing right and what was not in the legislation. PTA Br. 

37. What Congress instructed was that the withdrawal of future leasing was subject to valid 

existing rights which, for the reasons described in our opening brief, demonstrate that the 

Government’s reliance upon that legislation to cancel the lease was arbitrary and capricious. 

Moncrief Br. 43–44. PTA has not shown that the lease was not a “valid existing right” before 

Interior cancelled it. Therefore, it was wrong for Interior to have justified its decision to not 

correct its purported errors with regard to a valid existing right based on Congress’s having 

determined that no more new leases would be issued in the Badger-Two Medicine area.  

III. MONCRIEF IS A BONA FIDE PURCHASER. 

The Government disagrees with Moncrief’s argument that bona fide purchasers are 

afforded protection from pre-lease violations of statutes and regulations other than the Mineral 

Leasing Act. In reaching that conclusion, the Government does not contest that Moncrief 

acquired its lease interest in good faith, for valuable consideration, and without notice of the 

alleged violation. See Sw. Petroleum Corp. v. Udall, 361 F.2d 650, 656 (10th Cir. 1966) 

(describing those factors as determinative of whether someone is bona fide purchaser). Instead, it 

objects solely on the grounds that 30 U.S.C. § 184(h)(2) states that Interior cannot strip bona fide 

purchasers of their property interest due to pre-lease “violation of any of the provisions of this 

chapter,” and according to the Government, the Moncrief Lease does not qualify because it was 

terminated for an alleged pre-lease violation of NEPA. 

The Government’s argument collapses upon inspection. In its brief, the Government 

explains that “the Secretary [of the Interior] has promulgated regulations, codified at 43 C.F.R. 

pt. 3100, implementing Interior’s authority under the Mineral Leasing Act. These include the 

regulation relied on in the Cancellation, 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(d), which provides that ‘leases shall 

be subject to cancellation if improperly issued.’” Fed. Defs.’ Br. 4. The Government thus takes 
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the contradictory positions that: (i) the Moncrief Lease is subject to cancellation under the 

Mineral Leasing Act for being improperly issued, and (ii) the allegedly improper issuance of the 

Moncrief Lease in violation of NEPA does not violate the Mineral Leasing Act. The 

Government’s interpretation thus leads to the anomalous position it takes in this case: that the 

improper issuance of a lease does not violate the Mineral Leasing Act, because if it did violate 

the Act, then Moncrief would be entitled to bona fide purchaser protection.  

Furthermore, Interior’s interpretation is belied by its regulations. The Government relies 

on its regulation stating that “leases shall be subject to cancellation if improperly issued” to 

cancel a lease allegedly issued in violation of NEPA, despite the Mineral Leasing Act’s 

authorizing no such action. Fed. Defs.’ Br. 1 (citing 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(d)). The Government 

then turns around and argues that its regulation regarding bona fide purchasers, which states that 

“a lease or interest therein shall not be cancelled to the extent that such action adversely affects 

the title or interest of a bona fide purchaser,” 43 C.F.R. § 3108.4, does not apply to a lease 

allegedly issued in violation of NEPA, because the Mineral Leasing Act does not so specify, Fed. 

Defs.’ Br. 20–21. Surely, if Interior’s regulations can reflect its claimed plenary authority in the 

former circumstance (a notion we reject supra at 2–9), the same should be so for the latter.  

Likewise, the Government’s attempt to distinguish Clayton is puzzling, given that 

Interior relied upon that decision to support its asserted authority to cancel the Moncrief Lease. 

BLM-M000674 n.16. Yet the Government now argues that the alleged pre-lease NEPA violation 

in Clayton merely rendered the lease in that case voidable, while the alleged pre-lease NEPA 

violation here renders the Moncrief Lease void, without identifying any actual distinction 

between the two. Fed. Defs.’ Br. 22. The IBLA stated as follows:  

“[E]ven were we to assume that the Forest Service and BLM were correct in their 

assertions that an inadequate NEPA review had been conducted prior to lease 

Case 1:17-cv-00609-RJL   Document 26   Filed 11/13/17   Page 22 of 31



17 
 

issuance, this would not render the lease void. Rather, inasmuch as a lease might 

still issue after the completion of the environmental review, premature issuance of 

a lease renders the lease voidable.” 

Clayton, 103 IBLA at 212 (emphasis added).
10

 To the extent Clayton is persuasive here (which 

for the reasons discussed supra at 7–8 we argue it should not be), there is no distinction between 

the lease in Clayton and the Moncrief Lease, except that Interior’s action here comes much too 

late, see infra at 17–18. In both cases, only after lease issuance did an agency object. Interior’s 

characterization of the Moncrief Lease as “illegal,” Fed. Defs.’ Br. 22, does not make it so.
 11

 

Assuming arguendo that NEPA deficiencies rendered the Moncrief Lease voidable, 

Moncrief was entitled to bona fide purchaser protection if able to demonstrate that it acquired its 

interest in good faith, for valuable consideration, and without notice of the alleged violation. Id. 

Moncrief’s showing on those points remains undisputed. 

IV. INTERIOR’S CANCELLATION ACTION IS TIME-BARRED. 

The Government also contends that 28 U.S.C. § 2462, which requires the Government to 

commence a proceeding for forfeiture within 5 years from the date on which the claim accrues, 

does not apply to administrative proceedings or to any suit by the Government that does not 

involve a fine, penalty, or pecuniary forfeiture for violation of an Act of Congress under 28 

U.S.C. § 2461. Contrary to the Government’s assertion, Section 2462 is a provision of general 

applicability and does apply in administrative proceedings. See Johnson v. SEC, 87 F.3d 484, 

486 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (“Because [28 U.S.C.] § 2462 is a statute of general applicability rather 

than one whose primary administration has been delegated to the SEC, we interpret it de novo.”); 

see also 3M Co. (Minn. Min. & Mfg.) v. Browner, 17 F.3d 1453, 1457 (D.C. Cir. 1994) (“[T]here 

                                                   
10

 The suggestion by the IBLA that the lease would be “voidable” does not indicate whether a 

judicial or administrative proceeding would be necessary to address that issue.  

11
 For these reasons, none of PTA’s arguments persuade that bona fide purchaser protection does 

not apply here. PTA Br. 18–24. 
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is no discernible rationale for applying § 2462 when the penalty action or proceeding is brought 

in a court, but not when it is brought in an administrative agency.”). Given that 28 U.S.C. § 2462 

has been applied repeatedly by administrative agencies, the Government’s argument that it only 

applies to lawsuits brought pursuant to Section 2461, which governs “civil fine[s], penalt[ies] or 

pecuniary forfeiture . . . prescribed for the violation of an Act of Congress . . . recovered in a 

civil action,” does not hold water. See, e.g., California v. Powerex Corp., 139 FERC ¶ 61210 at 

P 59 (2012) (holding the statute of limitations in Section 2462 as applicable in a Federal Energy 

Regulatory Commission enforcement proceeding). To the extent there is any dispute, Interior’s 

forfeiture of the Moncrief Lease constitutes “forfeiture” as described in Section 2462. See 30 

U.S.C. § 188(a) (using the phrases “forfeit” and “cancel” interchangeably). The Government’s 

failure to bring a proceeding for forfeiture of the Moncrief Lease within 5 years of the 

Government’s alleged failure to satisfy its NEPA obligations bars its claim. 

V. INTERIOR DENIED MONCRIEF DUE PROCESS. 

Even if it were true that Interior has the authority to administratively cancel the Moncrief 

Lease on the basis of a pre-lease NEPA violation (much less a post-lease change of heart), the 

regulation upon which Interior relies speaks only to what it may do, not how it goes about doing 

it. The Constitution tells Interior how. Interior ignored its constitutional duty. The Government 

conceded in its answer that it provided no written notice or opportunity for a hearing, claiming 

that it was not required to. Now it argues that what Moncrief received was, in fact, due process. 

Neither argument is correct. PTA, for its part, misunderstands what property right is deserving of 

due process and what process is required.  
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A. Moncrief Was Due, But Was Denied, Written Notice and a Real Opportunity 

to Be Heard. 

Due process “notice must be of such nature as reasonably to convey the required 

information . . . and it must afford a reasonable time for those interested to make their 

appearance.” Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950). Interior owed 

as much to Moncrief before cancelling the lease. Interior did not provide it. 

1. Due Process Requires Written Notice Describing the Action, Providing 

Sufficient Information for the Recipient to Understand the Basis for 

the Action, and an Opportunity to Be Heard. 

In our opening brief we demonstrate that:  (1) Moncrief had a protected property interest; 

(2) due process requires notice and a hearing before that property can be taken away; and (3) 

Interior has recognized the same. Moncrief Br. 16–20. Neither the Government nor PTA can 

deny Interior’s prior statements acknowledging its duty to provide notice and a hearing, id. 17–

18 (not necessarily an evidentiary hearing, which Moncrief does not specifically request, contra 

PTA Br. 26). Although PTA casts aspersions on the fact that some of Interior’s statements occur 

outside the oil and gas leasing context, that such statements arise in multiple contexts only serves 

to reinforce that notice and a hearing are requirements that apply across the spectrum of private 

interests on federal land. E.g., Moncrief Br. 18. When Interior modified the language in a 

subsection of the regulation invoked here, Interior stated that “any cancellation proceeding will 

generate [] due process rights . . . . no lease cancellation would become final without judicial 

review.” 53 Fed. Reg. 22,814, 22,822 (June 17, 1988) (emphasis added).
12

 In contrast, here the 

lease cancellation was made final with no process whatsoever. 

                                                   
12

 PTA pointed out that Moncrief’s opening brief erroneously attributes regulatory preamble 

language to the specific subsection of the cancellation regulations invoked here. PTA Br. 28–29. 

We regret that error, though it is nonmaterial. In that regulatory action, Interior modified the 

language of 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(a), not what is now (d). 53 Fed. Reg. at 22,822. That action also 

moved what is now (d) to its current location, from its prior location at 43 C.F.R. § 3108.3(b). 53  
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PTA argues that Moncrief must show that it was deprived of a viable property interest 

protected by the Fifth Amendment, PTA Br. 23—we agree. Moncrief established that its lease is 

unquestionably a protected viable property interest. Moncrief Br. 16–17. PTA has not shown 

otherwise. PTA is wrong when asserting that the oil and gas lease is a mere “benefit.” PTA Br. 

25. Rather, oil and gas leases are “property interest[s] enforceable against the Government.” 

Union Oil Co. of Cal. v. Morton, 512 F.2d 743, 747 (9th Cir. 1975). Once Interior issues a 

federal oil and gas lease under the Mineral Leasing Act, it is not an interest that Interior may 

“grant or deny [] in [its] discretion.” PTA Br. 23. The Moncrief Lease already was granted – its 

cancellation is no mere denial to issue the lease in the first place. Moreover, Interior had treated 

the Moncrief Lease as valid up until the point of cancellation, as demonstrated by the continued 

lease suspensions, see BLM-M000705 – consistent with the “presumption of regularity” 

attributed to agency actions, Timbisha Shoshone Tribe v. Salazar, 678 F.3d 935, 938 (D.C. Cir. 

2012) (“The presumption of regularity supports the official acts of public officers and, in the 

absence of clear evidence to the contrary, courts presume that they have properly discharged 

their official duties.” (quoting United States v. Chem. Found., Inc., 272 U.S. 1, 14–15 (1926))).  

The Supreme Court has long recognized that private interests on federal land are 

deserving of due process where Congress has granted the authority to administratively revoke 

that interest (which authority we still contest here). Cameron v. United States, 252 U.S. 450, 460 

(1920) (“[T]he Land Department has no power to strike down any [mineral] claim arbitrarily, but 

so long as the legal title remains in the government it does have the power, after proper notice 

and upon adequate hearing, to determine whether the claim is valid . . . .” (emphasis added)). 

Moncrief does not contest the existence of any provision of the lease regarding the application of 

                                                                                                                                                                    

Fed. Reg. at 22,840. Regardless of the provision modified, Interior’s statement regarding 

affording lessees due process was not limited to one particular category of cancellation. 
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Interior’s regulations. See PTA Br. 23–24. However, Moncrief does contest:  (1) that the 

regulations mean what Interior interprets them to mean; and (2) the process by which Interior 

attempts to invoke its regulations. Griffin is not on point. PTA Br. 24. There, the Court of 

Federal Claims found that the contractual aspects of the lease had not been broken due to 

cancellation, when the lease expressly allowed for such cancellation. Whether Interior provided 

due process when cancelling the lease in Griffin was not at issue. A contract claim is not a due 

process claim, and no one claimed Griffin’s due process rights were violated. 

2. Moncrief Was Denied the Process It Was Due. 

To recap, in late 2016, a Moncrief employee received a phone call letting him know that 

the Moncrief Lease would likely be cancelled. The employee received no:  (1) rationale for 

cancellation; (2) offer of an opportunity to respond; or (3) indication as to when cancellation 

might happen. Moncrief Br. 13–14. In an attempt to protect his client, without knowing why 

cancellation was being considered and how or when Moncrief might have an opportunity to 

respond, Moncrief’s counsel responded in a reasonable manner given the limited and uncertain 

information provided, but in no sense was that due process. 

Moreover, the Government’s characterization of the impending cancellation as a 

“certainty” demonstrates that Interior had no intention of providing any process. There was 

nothing Moncrief could do that would forestall cancellation. The Government cannot seriously 

claim that it can decline to tell an individual why his property is about to be taken or when, not 

expressly provide the ability to respond or have any kind of hearing (or give any indication the 

individual’s protests may have any effect), and then claim that a letter from the private party to 

the government requesting a hearing constituted due process. To the contrary, Morrissey v. 

Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972), upon which the Government relies, actually supports the concern 

of Congress and the Founders regarding government action, i.e., that a government’s being its 
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own judge and jury would result in an abuse of power. Moncrief Br. 22–23. Moreover, 

Morrissey makes clear that, to be constitutionally sufficient, notice must include a statement of 

purpose in addition to what the government is actually alleging. 408 U.S. at 488–89. Further, the 

notice must be written, not delivered via telephone to an employee of the leaseholder. Id. 

Interior’s follow-up email attaching a press release and a news article does not serve as notice of 

Interior’s grounds.
13

 Further, Interior’s email states that a letter would be forthcoming that 

“outlines the process for Moncrief,” BLM-M000065 (emphasis added), demonstrating that 

Interior knew it had to do more. But no letter came, nor any process.  

B. Interior Cannot Skirt Its Obligations Under the Constitution By Claiming 

Harmless Error.  

The Government claims that it does not matter that it gave Moncrief no due process 

before cancelling the lease, because Moncrief is receiving now “virtually the same process he 

would be entitled to if the Department had initiated proceeding in U.S. District Court.” Fed. 

Defs.’ Br. 25. Hardly. If the Court reaches the merits of the challenge to the Cancellation, it is 

bound by the arbitrary and capricious standard of review under the APA. Had Moncrief been 

able to present evidence and make arguments in advance of district court proceedings, the record 

would have reflected those arguments and Interior’s responses to them, instead of Moncrief 

learning for the first time in the final cancellation decision what BLM had done and why. 

However, even if Interior had included in the administrative record documentation supporting 

the Leasing EA and the Moncrief Lease issuance, it is entirely possible we would never have 

known what exactly happened with regard to consultation with the Blackfeet Tribe. Record 

                                                   
13

 Cafeteria & Rest. Workers Union, Local 473, AFL-CIO v. McElroy is not on point. There, the 

private interest at stake was “the opportunity to work at one isolated and specific military 

installation.” 367 U.S. 886, 896 (1961). Such an interest would be a “privilege,” not a “right,” 

which is what Moncrief has here. 
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documents from the Badger-Two Medicine area NHPA analysis that post-date the lease are often 

heavily redacted in what appear to be key areas – leaving us unaware as to whether the Moncrief 

Lease area truly contains any sites of importance. E.g., FS-003361 (18-page document entitled 

“Badger-Two Medicine Blackfoot Traditional Cultural District” with 16.5 pages blacked out). 

Although both the Government and PTA argue that Moncrief raised no factual disputes 

and therefore no hearing was necessary, Fed. Defs.’ Br. 25, PTA Br. 27–28, that argument is too 

clever by half, given that Interior never gave Moncrief enough information about why its lease 

was being cancelled to understand what kind of factual information would have been useful to 

raise. To wit, it is only after receiving the Cancellation did Moncrief learn of the basis of the 

decision, and therefore have the opportunity to search for additional facts to put before Interior. 

Further, our opening brief demonstrates that there are indeed multiple material factual disputes 

about the pre-existing disturbed nature of the lands within the Moncrief Lease area and how 

Interior had considered and approved other substantial development activities there over decades 

– disputes Interior was required to resolve prior to cancellation. Finally, had Moncrief been given 

its due at the administrative level, this Court’s resources could have been spared yet another 

lawsuit over Government mismanagement. See Tr. Status Conf. Before the Hon. Richard J. Leon 

U.S. Dist. Judge, 10:10–14, Solenex LLC v. Jewell, et al. No. 13-993 (ECF No. 69) (Mar. 16, 

2016) (“[S]hame on the government agencies and this bureaucratic jungle that they operate in for 

acting in the way they have acted now for a period of close to three decades. This has just simply 

got to stop.”). 

CONCLUSION 

 

Whether because Interior lacks statutory authority, violated the Constitution, or acted too 

late, the Court must vacate its cancellation of the Moncrief Lease. 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(B),(C); see 
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also Mexichem Fluor, Inc. v. EPA, 866 F.3d 451, 454 (D.C. Cir. 2017) (vacating regulation the 

statute did not “give EPA authority” to promulgate). Moreover, under the circumstances here, 

reinstatement of the Moncrief Lease is fully justified. See Tex. Oil & Gas Corp. v. Watt, 683 

F.2d 427, 435 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (finding leases erroneously cancelled “must be reinstated” where 

“Secretary [] engaged in a hasty attempt, based on politically suspect motives at worst and on a 

legally erroneous theory at best, to undo what had been done”). Nothing in the Government’s or 

PTA’s brief persuades that the Moncrief Lease Cancellation was anything but unlawful. The 

Court should grant Moncrief’s motion and deny the cross-motions. 
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